FILED

 SHD J. WHITE

 SHD J. WHITE

 NOV 8 1998

 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

 CASE NO. 94,135

 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

 By

 In the supreme court

 STATE OF FLORIDA,

 Appellant,

v.

OSCEOLA COUNTY, FLORIDA, a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Appellee,

and

THE TAXPAYERS, PROPERTY OWNERS AND CITIZENS OF OSCEOLA COUNTY, FLORIDA, INCLUDING NON-RESIDENTS OWNING PROPERTY OR SUBJECT TO TAXATION THEREIN, AND ALL OTHERS HAVING OR CLAIMING ANY RIGHT, TITLE OR INTEREST IN PROPERTY TO BE AFFECTED BY THE ISSUANCE OF THE BONDS, HEREIN DESCRIBED, OR TO BE AFFECTED THEREBY,

Appellees.

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT STATE OF FLORIDA

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### a. The Complaint and the Amended Answer.

On August 14, 1998 Osceola County (the "County") filed its Complaint for Validation, with two exhibits. These two exhibits, which became the sole exhibits at trial, were:

- The Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bond Resolution adopted July 27, 1998 (most of whose appendices were missing, but were "to follow") (the "Bond Resolution") (A11 - A331 & A445 - A766); and
- 2. Osceola County Ordinance #97-13 (the "Bond Ordinance"), also adopted by the Osceola County Commission, but over a year earlier, on June 30, 1997 (A1 -A338, A767 - A 774).

The County filed the Complaint because the County "has determined to issue not exceeding \$35,000,000 of its Osceola County, Florida Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 1998....<sup>1</sup> The County sought to validate these bonds (the "Bonds").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup><u>e.q.</u>, Complaint, p. 3, Para. 4 (A3); <u>accord, id</u>. p.1 (Al); acc<u>ord, id</u>. (caption) (Al).

The Court entered an *ex parte* Order to Show Cause on August 17, 1998 (A339-A342).

The Court entered an *ex parte* Amended Order to Show Cause on August 24, 1998 (A343 -A346).

The County served its notice of filing of affidavit regarding publication of the Amended Order to Show Cause on September 15, 1998 (A354 -A356).

The State of Florida (the "State") filed its initial Answer (A350 -A353) and the State Attorney's appearance (A348 -A349) on September 15, 1998. The State advised it was without knowledge regarding the material allegations and demanded strict proof of all matters at the hearing, especially proof of publication of notice (A350 - A353).

The State quoted the above language from the Complaint in its Amended Answer filed September 17, 1998 (A357-A364, at A358, Para. 20(i)). The State denied that all requirements of Florida and federal law pertaining to the issuance of the Bonds and the adoption of proceedings of the County, as issuer, had been strictly followed. In addition, pursuant to Section 75.05(1), Florida Statutes, the State alleged seven defects and insufficiencies in the Complaint (A358 -A362).

Chief among these defects, the State expressed serious doubt whether Section 125.0104(3)(1)(2), Florida Statutes, of the Florida Local Option Tourist Development Act (the "Act") in fact authorized the bonds, the Bond Ordinance, and the Bond Resolution and further alleged that subsection nowhere authorized the County to buy a convention center from somebody else (A359 -360)("Defect Three").

## b. The Show Cause Hearing.

- 2

4

At the show cause hearing (A791-A847) held September 18, 1998, the Osceola Circuit Court heard testimony from two witnesses called by the County, namely, Gale Sittig, the newly hired Commission Auditor for the Osceola County Commission (A795 - A810) and Dr. Hank Fishkind, an expert witness (an economist) (A810 -A833), respectively. The County offered and the Court received two exhibits into evidence, <u>viz</u>., the Bond Resolution (A445 -A766) and the Bond Ordinance (A767 -A774), respectively. These exhibits and

these two witnesses are at the heart of the Statement of the Facts, <u>infra</u>.<sup>2</sup>

After the County rested (A833), and the State declined to present any evidence (<u>id</u>.), at the close of all the evidence, the Court heard closing arguments of counsel for the County (A833 -A834) and the State (A834-A842), plus a rebuttal argument by the County's bond counsel, who handed up the County's proposed final judgment to the Court at the end of rebuttal argument (A842-A845).

Then the Court recalled the economist, had the economist testify (A845-A846), whereupon, after several seconds, the Court stated, "I've read the findings adopted in the proposed judgment and I'm going to sign the judgment. Thank you, gentlemen." (A846). The Court then signed and entered the County's ten-page proposed final judgment, as handed to the Court moments before (A845, line 9).<sup>3</sup>

## c. The Final Judgment and the State's Objections Thereto.

The Final Judgment tracked the allegations of the Complaint, made a single, fleeting reference (A852) to the State's initial Answer(A350-A353), and made no reference whatsoever to the State's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The County's bond counsel also identified his law firm colleague, George Nickerson (A794), along with Sittig and Fishkind, as a potential witness too, but the County did not call Nickerson at the hearing (A794).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Except for the closing argument itself, the State was afforded no opportunity to comment on the proposed final judgment prior to its entry (A845-A846). Neither was the State afforded any opportunity to cross-examine the expert witness recalled *sua sponte* by the Court after the close of the evidence and all closing argument(Id.).

Amended Answer or to any of the defects in the Complaint alleged therein.

- 1

. •

None of the Court's 24 detailed findings of fact and conclusions of law addressed, in terms, any of the issues raised by the State in its Amended Answer, any of the evidence adduced on cross-examination of the witnesses, or any of the State's arguments based on that Amended Answer and that evidence at the hearing. Consequently, all references in this brief to the trial court's rulings adverse to the State in the final judgment must be characterized as either *sub silentio* or *necessary* or *implicit* holdings.

Although the Court made detailed threshold findings in the Final Judgment regarding proper service on the State Attorney of both the Complaint and the Amended Show Cause Order (A852, preamble), no evidence was adduced at the hearing to support this finding. Neither is the State aware of summons or return of same on the State Attorney in this case.<sup>4</sup>

Likewise, although the Court also made crucial findings regarding proper notice and proof of publication re the show cause hearing (A852, Para. 3), no evidence was adduced, and no exhibit was tendered or introduced at the hearing to support this finding.<sup>5</sup>

Consequently, the State objected to the final judgment immediately upon its entry on the record -- to preserve the record (A846).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> (<u>Compare</u> A347 (no Item 4) <u>with</u> A865, Item 4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>(<u>Cf</u>. A354-A356, <u>cited in</u> text <u>supra.</u>)

## d. This Appeal.

٠¢

This direct appeal timely followed on October 12, 1998 (A848-A860).<sup>6</sup>

#### e. The State's Appendix.

The State's Appendix seeks to include all filings known to the State in the court below (Al-A869), plus the Act and a few other authorities (A870-A892). The State knows of no other way to show this Court what's <u>not</u> there.<sup>7</sup>

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS.

#### A. The Statutory Scheme.

#### i. Chapter 75.

Chapter 75, Florida Statutes (1997), sets forth the procedures to be used in a Florida municipal bond validation case. Chapter 75 also imposes duties on issuers like the County and imposes specific duties on the State Attorney, as counsel for automatic defendant, the State of Florida.

Section 75.05(1), Florida Statutes (1997), commands the State Attorney to bring to the attention of the Florida courts defects, insufficiencies, and untruths in would-be issuers' complaints in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The State's Directions to the Clerk in the court below designated the entire record with particularity, not just the "automatic record" (A861-A869).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>The Appendix accompanies this brief and is being served with it (A893). (As of this writing, no record citations exist, although the Clerk below anticipates preparing the record by December 1, 1998.)

bond validation cases. The Amended Answer was expressly filed pursuant to that section (A358).

Among other disclosure obligations on issuers, Section 75.04(1), Florida Statutes (1997), requires the complaint to set out, <u>inter alia</u>, "the amount of the bonds or certificates to be issued and the interest they are to bear;...."

## ii. Florida's Local Option Tourist Development Act.

Section 125.0104, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998) (A870-A876), known as the Local Option Tourist Development Act (the "Act") provides a mechanism for the adoption, at the local level, of a tax, sometimes informally, if imprecisely, referred to as a "tourist" tax.<sup>8</sup>

The Legislature has amended the Act many times since the late seventies, including last year and this year, including amendments in 1996 in Chapter 96-397, Section 44, at 2499-2500, Laws of Florida (A883 - A887), as codified in Section 125.0104(3)(1), Florida Statutes (1997) (A877-A822).

As a result of that 1996 amendment, Section 125.0104(3)(1)(2), Florida Statutes, has provided, at all times material to this case, that a qualifying county may impose up to an additional one-cent tax, by majority vote of the county commission (<u>i.e.</u>, without referendum), in order to:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>This Court held the Act to be constitutional seventeen years ago. <u>See Miami Dolphins v. Metropolitan Dade County</u>, 394 So.2d 981 (Fla. 1981). Tourists and others have been paying the tax in various Florida jurisdictions ever since.

Pay the debt service on bonds issued to finance the construction, reconstruction, or renovation of a convention center, and to pay the planning and design costs incurred prior to the issuance of such bonds.<sup>9</sup>

#### iii. SEC Rule 15c2-12.

- 2

In the last three years the federal government has taken steps to regulate municipal bond disclosure. <u>See</u> SEC Rule 15c2-12, 17 C.F.R. §240.15c-12 (A888 - A892).

In this case, the State alleged in its Amended Answer and argued at the hearing in the court below that the suggestion in the Complaint that the County will undertake to comply with SEC Rule 15c2-12 at a later point in time (Complaint, Ex. A, Sec. 8.04, at A77) is insufficient (A359).

## iv. Osceola County Ordinance #97-13 (June 30, 1997).

The County Commission purported to authorize a fifth-cent of tax in the County Ordinance adopted last year (A332-A338 & A767-A774). It is on the authority of this Ordinance that the Bond Resolution was adopted a year later.<sup>10</sup>

## V. <u>The County's Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bond</u> <u>Resolution (July 27, 1998)</u>.

 $<sup>^{9}</sup>$ <u>See</u> A887, <u>codified</u>, A878, current version at A872. Later amendments to the next subsection of the Act also permit such additional tax to be used to "pay the operation and maintenance costs of a convention center for a period up to ten years." <u>See</u> §125.0104(3)(1)(3), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1998).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>The State has at all times assumed *arguendo* in the court below that the Bonds' purposes are authorized by the Bond Resolution and the Ordinance, but have alleged the Bonds, the Bond Ordinance, and the Bond Resolution are not authorized under the Act (A359).

The Bond Resolution attached to the Complaint (A80-A330) and introduced into evidence at the hearing over State objections (A445-A766) speaks for itself and is addressed below.<sup>11</sup>

## B. <u>The Three Projects: The Osceola County Convention Center</u> <u>Project, the World Expo Center Project, and the Osceola</u> <u>Trace Project</u>.

The Complaint and the Final Judgment refer to a defined term of art, the "Project," to refer to the Osceola County Convention Center Project (<u>compare</u> A2 <u>with</u> A780), which is the subject of the Bonds. <u>Id</u>. However, the exhibits to the Complaint introduced at the show cause hearing, and the witnesses' testimony regarding same, and the Complaint and Final Judgment, all also address <u>another</u>, much larger "project," namely the World Expo Center Project (<u>compare</u> A4 <u>with</u> A782), of which the defined Convention Center Project is a tiny sliver, described as a "component" of the larger project. <u>Id</u>. Parsing the two projects, which are, in turn, sometimes in the record treated by the witnesses as pieces of a <u>third</u> larger project, the "whole Osceola Trace Project" (<u>e.g.</u>, A826), is essential to understanding the pleadings and the evidence, particularly the expert economic forecasting testimony;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>The State wishes this Court clearly to understand that the version reproduced in the Appendix is a true copy of the version served with the Complaint and the State's copy of the trial exhibit used at the hearing. In the court below and this Court, the State continues to disclaim the Bond Resolution is a complete or true copy, but agrees this is what was certified to be a true copy over all State completeness objections (A797 - A798).

The missing and omitted appendices speak for themselves. See Appendix Index.

casual references to the "project" readily lead to ambiguity and confusion and ambiguity objections (A822).

- 2

The descriptions of these projects and the core agreements are the subject of the book-length Bond Resolution and exhibits and appendices thereto (A11 - A295) introduced at the hearing as County's Exhibit 1 (A445 - A730).

Sustaining the State's best evidence objections (A804) and the State's coaching objections (A806 - A807), but overruling the State's completeness objections (A797 - A798), the court below admitted and found the self-authenticated Bond Resolution to be the best evidence of the Operating Agreement, described <u>infra</u>, for the deal (<u>Id</u>. & A804). Here is a summary.<sup>12</sup>

## i. <u>Overview of World Expo Center Project and Osceola County</u> <u>Convention Center</u>.

The initial phase of the Project will focus primarily on the 425-acre parcel located south of Osceola Parkway. The development components guaranteed in the initial phase include the following: The World Expo Center will include 2 million square feet of exhibition space plus 400,000 square feet of meeting rooms and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>The following summary of these inter-linked projects tracks, to the extent practicable and to the extent supported by the record, the diction and structure of a summary provided by the County to the State with the Complaint for this case. However, since that summary itself is apparently not part of the record (A826), and since the County's expert economist testified he had never seen it (A826, line 20), the State has endeavored to cite the corresponding allegations in the Complaint and exhibits and the testimony of the witnesses and the findings in the Final Judgment.

support space (<u>e.g.</u>, A4, Para. 7, <u>adopted in</u> Final Judgment at A782, Para.11).

- \_\*

The Osceola County Convention Center itself has yet to be designed (<u>e.g.</u>, A161 & A596, A162 & A597, A163 & A598). The County's expert witness has seen no designs (A833, line 1) and does not know what the Convention Center will cost (<u>see</u> A832, line 12).<sup>13</sup>

According to the Commission Auditor's testimony at the hearing regarding the Purchase and Sale Agreement for the Convention Center, "The purchase price cannot be determined until the design standards are set." (A803). And, in fact, based on the County's expert witness' own economic analysis, that economist admitted on cross-examination that (i) <u>the County is not constructing the Convention Center</u> (A830, line 22), but (ii) the County has instead made itself party to a purchase and sale agreement (A830, line 25). And moreover, the County's expert witness testified, based on his own reading of the documents and his own participation, that, in fact, all present plans contemplate that Hyatt or a Hyatt affiliate would have sole managerial control of the Convention Center (A830, lines 6-17).<sup>14</sup>

 $<sup>^{13}</sup>$ So, too, the State does not know what the convention center will cost, has seen no design standards and no designs and, consequently, the State has alleged the County does not know what the cost of the convention center will be, the amount of the bonds to be issued, and what the interest rate will be (A358, Para. 20(i)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>The testimony of the Commission Auditor and the County's expert witness on these scores match the corresponding material fact allegations of the State's Amended Answer (<u>compare</u> A803 and A830 with A360 at Para. 20(iii); <u>accord</u>, <u>id</u>. A358 at Para. 20(i).

According to the County's expert witness' forecast testimony at the show cause hearing, the Convention Center project, the Expo Center Project, and the Osceola Trace Project are expected to provide new employment opportunities (A818, A820, & A826).

Specifically, the economist testified the convention center would create 200 jobs direct employment, for total job creation of 300 jobs, whereas the Expo Center Project, later clarified on cross-examination to mean the whole Osceola Trace Project, will result in about 15,000 jobs.<sup>15</sup>

The "project" will also include, according to the Final Judgment, "a 2,000 room Hyatt Hotel, an entertainment/retail commercial venue, parking facilities; and a public safety facility, which will be constructed and donated to the County" (<u>see A4</u>, Para. 7, <u>adopted in A782</u>, Para. 11). The court below further found, "Future phases of the complex may include additional hotel space, entertainment/retail offerings, a central energy plant, office space and time-share units." <u>Id</u>.

The evidentiary and record bases for these findings are unclear or unknown to the State inasmuch as the Development Order was also omitted from the Bond Resolution, the Complaint, and the trial exhibits (<u>Compare</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, A162 with, <u>e.g.</u>, A359, Para. 20(ii)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>(<u>Compare</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, A818, line 23 (over 200 jobs direct employment at Convention Center) with A820, 1. 10-14 (approximately 200 direct jobs times 1.5 multiplier for total job creation of 300) with A826, 1. 16-17 (15,000 jobs direct employment "for the larger project," referring to the entire Expo Center Project) with A826, line 5 (clarifying, on cross, 15,000 jobs from the whole Osceola Trace Project). The vast majority of which is a private project (A826, line 9), with private employers and private employees (A826, line 12).

with A597). Also omitted was the description of the Project Site (<u>e.g.</u>, A168 with A603), not just the description of the Convention Site (cited <u>supra</u>), among numerous other missing and untendered exhibits to the Bond Resolution.

Neither did the witnesses' testimony afford any substitute record basis for these findings, except for the newly hired Commission Auditor's two-sentence testimony re same (A798 - A799), over State objections, <u>after</u> testifying she had no personal knowledge and no competence to state whether the Bond Resolution sought to be introduced was a true copy (A796-A797, line 7).<sup>16</sup>

## ii. Bond Resolution.

- 2

. •

The Bond Resolution authorizes the issuance of up to \$35,000,000 of bonds, the proceeds from which will be used to purchase the Convention Center (A32).

Adoption of the Bond Resolution does not require the County to issue any bonds or to execute any appended agreements, each of which will be summarized below (A32). If issued, the proposed bonds will be payable from the fifth-cent tourist development tax imposed by the County Commission last year (A50 & A25).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>On the contrary, after the Commission Auditor admitted on cross that the Bond Ordinance had passed a year before she even became an employee of the County (A800, line 11), the Court equated the Commission Auditor's "understanding" of the Bond Ordinance in this case to the Circuit Judge's "[own] understanding that President Clinton sort of dallied around with Monica Lewinsky." (A800, line 23 -25). The trial judge explained "[his own] understanding of that is as good as your understanding of this, isn't it?" (A801, lines 1 -3). "Somebody told you about it?" (A801, line 5).

Proceeds of the fifth-cent tourist development tax not required to pay debt service on the bonds will be available for other qualifying projects, including improvements to the County's spring training facilities and agricultural center (A58). The Bond Resolution contemplates that, following validation, a purchase contract for the bonds, including the specific principal amount and terms of the bonds and final versions of each document attached to the Bond Resolution, will be presented to the Board for approval (A71).

The following documents were appended to the Bond Resolution and included in the bond validation proceeding.

## iii. Purchase and Sale Agreement

The Purchase and Sale Agreement (<u>See</u> A85 & A520; A80 - A159 & A514 - A594) will be entered into by the County and Osceola Development Project, L.P. (the "Development Partnership").<sup>17</sup>

Under the Purchase and Sale Agreement, the Convention Center and related parking and drainage facilities will be constructed by the Development Partnership and purchased by the County (A101 -A102, A536, A136 & A571).

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