STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

vs.

OSCEOLA COUNTY, FLORIDA, a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Appellee,

/

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE OSCEOLA COUNTY, FLORIDA

On Appeal from the Ninth Judicial Circuit, in and for Osceola County, Florida Case No. CI 98-CI 1137

GREGORY T. STEWART Florida Bar No 203718 VIRGINIA SAUNDERS DELEGAL Florida Bar No. 989932 Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A. 315 South Calhoun St., Suite 800 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (850) 224-4070 (phone)

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Osceola Convention Center ("the Project") sought to be constructed with the proceeds of the Not to Exceed \$35,000,000 Osceola County, Florida Tourist Development Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 1998, serves a valid public purpose. To the extent that the Development Agreement and Operating Agreement provide a private benefit, it is incidental to the public purpose. The County has made various legislative declarations finding the existence of a paramount public purpose. These findings are supported by the evidence presented at the show cause hearing and have not otherwise been proven to be clearly erroneous.

Additionally, the various arguments concerning alleged procedural deficiencies contained in the Initial Brief of the Appellant are without merit. The proposed use of the Tourist Development Tax does not violate section 125.0104(3)(1), Florida Statutes which expressly authorizes that the proceeds may be used to "finance the construction" of a convention center. The construction of the convention center, pursuant to County design standards and ultimately conveyed to the County following completion, falls within the purview of this authorization.

Finally, the Complaint for Validation is sufficient on its face, both as to the nature and extent of the allegations made and the parties joined.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT DECISION TO VALIDATE THE BONDS SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

The scope of judicial inquiry in bond validation proceedings is limited to determining: (1) whether the public body has the authority to issue bonds; (2) whether the purpose of the obligation is legal; and (3) whether the bond issuance complies with the requirements of law. <u>See Poe v. Hillsborough County</u>, 695 So. 2d 672, 675 (Fla. 1997); <u>Rowe v. St. Johns County</u>, 668 So. 2d 196, 198 (Fla. 1996); and <u>Taylor v. Lee County</u>, 498 So. 2d 424, 425 (Fla. 1986).

Contrary to the State Attorney's assertions, the existence of unexecuted contracts and an expedited adjudication schedule does not alter these inquiries nor limit the judiciary's ability to rule on the validity of a particular bond transaction. See, e.g., Tamar 7600, Inc. v. Orange County, 686 So. 2d 790 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997) (finding draft documents and summaries of unexecuted contracts sufficient to determine validity of tourist tax financing scheme for a professional sports franchise facility); GRW Corp. v. Department of Corrections, 642 So. 2d 718 (Fla. 1994) (upholding validation of a lease purchase agreement, even though it failed to include certain required provisions and contained blanks in the document); <u>State v. City of Miami</u>, 41 So. 2d 888 (Fla. 1949) (recognizing that bonds are sometimes validated before being sold or before provisions for redemption are included and before dates and maturities are determined). In fact, one of the reasons

that the statutory bond validation procedure under Chapter 75 is expedited is because local governments often wait to execute contracts and solidify agreements until the financing mechanism at issue in a validation proceeding is approved. In this manner, when a financing scheme is not approved, a local government is not then in a position of attempting to "un-do" contracts related or connected to the financing scheme at issue. In most instances, when a bond validation proceeding invalidates the financing scheme at issue, the project plan is either postponed or abandoned altogether.

Furthermore, despite the State Attorney's unsupported and confusing contentions that several issues exist in this appeal, the only dispositive issue here is whether the Project, to be financed with the Bonds, serves a valid public purpose. The inquiry for determining whether a "public purpose" is served, originates from Article VII, section 10 of the Florida Constitution. This constitutional provision prohibits the State and its subdivisions from using their taxing power or pledging their public credit to aid a private entity. If a governmental entity uses its taxing power or pledges its public credit, then the debt-financed project must serve a "paramount public purpose." See Northern Palm Beach County Water Control District v. State, 604 So. 2d 440, 441-42 (Fla. 1992) ("If either [the taxing power or pledge of credit] is involved, then the improvements must serve a paramount public The definition of "paramount public purpose" has been purpose."). provided through recent case law. The paramount public purpose

test is met when the project at issue benefits the community in a tangible way. See Poe v. Hillsborough County, 695 So. 2d 672, 676-77 (Fla. 1997) (enumerating the public purposes from a sports stadium and related facilities as: economic growth, tourist attraction, civic pride, camaraderie, development, business enhanced community image, recreation, and entertainment). Furthermore, projects financed with government-issued bonds may incidentally benefit private interests and still maintain their public character. See Poe v. Hillsborough County, 695 So. 2d 672 1997) (finding a paramount public purpose from the (Fla. construction of a stadium even when a stadium-related agreement allowed a private sports franchise to, among other things, receive the first \$2 million in proceeds from non-franchise events at the stadium).

A. The Bonds Meet The Florida Case Law Requirements For A Valid Public Purpose.

Article VII, section 10 of the Florida Constitution generally prohibits the State and its subdivisions from using their taxing powers or pledging their public credit to aid private persons or entities. <u>See Northern Palm Beach County Water Control District v.</u> <u>State</u>, 604 So. 2d 440, 441 (Fla. 1992). Article VII, section 10 provides in part:

> Neither the state nor any county, school district, municipality, special district, or agency of any of them, shall become a joint owner with, or stockholder of, or give, lend or use its taxing power or credit to aid any corporation, association, partnership or person; but this shall not prohibit:

(a) the investment of public trust funds;

(b) the investment of other public funds in obligations of, or insured by, the United States or any of its instrumentalities;

(c) the issuance and sale by any county, municipality, special district or other local governmental body of (1) revenue bonds to finance or refinance the cost of capital projects for airports or port facilities, or <u>(2) revenue bonds to finance or refinance the</u> cost of capital projects for industrial or manufacturing plants to the extent that the interest thereon is exempt from income taxes under the then existing laws of the United States, when, in either case, the revenue bonds are payable solely from the revenue derived from the sale, operation or leasing of the projects. If any project so financed, or any part thereof, is occupied or operated by corporation, association, any private partnership or person pursuant to contract or lease with the issuing body, the property interest created by such contract or lease shall be subject to taxation to the same extent as other privately owned property.

Art. VII, § 10(a), (b), (c), Fla. Const. (emphasis added). The underlined language in subsection (c) above was added to the Florida Constitution in 1968. The impact of this revision was dramatic because it diminished the precedential value of pre-1968 judicial decisions, construing the parallel "pledging of credit" provision in Article IX, section 10, Florida Constitution (1885). In comparison to the 1968 revision, Article IX, section 10 of the 1885 Constitution provided:

> Section 10. The credit of the State shall not be pledged or loaned to any individual, company, corporation, or association; nor shall the State become a joint owner or stock-holder in any company, association or corporation. The Legislature shall not authorize any county, city, borough, township or incorporated district to become a

stock holder in any company, association or corporation, or to obtain or appropriate money for, or to loan its credit to, any corporation, association, institution or individual.

Under the 1885 constitutional prohibition in Article IX, section 10, all revenue bonds issued for private facilities were required to serve a "predominately" or "paramount" public purpose even though the bonds were payable solely from the revenues generated from the projects and were non-recourse to the issuing public entity. See State v. Town of North Miami, 59 So. 2d 779 (Fla. 1952) (holding that the construction of an aluminum manufacturing plant did not further a public purpose); and <u>State v.</u> Jacksonville Port Authority, 204 So. 2d 881 (Fla. 1967) (finding that proposed port support facilities did not serve a sufficient public purpose). This Court later explained the genesis of the new language in Linscott v. Orange County 1968 constitutional Industrial Development Authority, 443 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 1983). The Court recited the history as follows:

> Significantly, Jacksonville Port Authority was decided in July, 1967, when the Florida Legislature was considering revisions to the Constitution of 1885. The legislative in interest the economic impact of Jacksonville Port Authority was evidenced by legislation immediate the passage of attempting to nullify the court ruling. See 204 So. 2d at 892. Concurrently, in August, 1967, each house adopted joint resolutions proposing revisions to the constitutional provisions prohibiting the pledge of public credit to private entities. In pertinent part, the thrust of the Senate version was to overturn <u>Jacksonville Port Authority</u>; that of the House version to overturn Town of North <u>Miami</u>. These differing versions, subsections 10(c)(1) and (2) respectively, became House

Joint Resolution No. 1-2X 559-60, Laws of Florida (1968), which was submitted to, and approved by, the voters of Florida in November, 1968.

Linscott, 443 So. 2d at 100 (footnote omitted). Furthermore, in Linscott v. Orange County Industrial Development Authority, this Court analyzed its prior decisions in <u>Nohrr v. Brevard County</u> Educational Facility Authority, 247 So. 2d 304 (Fla. 1971), and State v. Housing Finance Authority of Polk County, 376 So. 2d 1158 (Fla. 1979), and fashioned a rule of construction for Article VII, section 10. The Court stated, "With the adoption of the Constitution of 1968, the '<u>paramount</u> public purpose' test developed by case law under the Constitution of 1885 lost much of its viability. The test is still applicable when a pledge of public credit is involved, but where such pledge is not involved, as here, it is enough to show only that a public purpose is served." Linscott, 443 So. 2d at 101 (emphasis in original).

Because this case involves the pledge of public tax dollars -the fifth cent of the tourist development tax under section 125.0104(3)(1), Florida Statutes -- the Circuit Court below applied the paramount public purpose test to the Bonds. The Circuit Court concluded that, despite the incidental private nature of a portion of the Project, the Project serves a paramount public purpose. The Circuit Court held as follows:

> The construction and operation of the Project serves a valid and paramount public purpose, in that (i) the Project will directly promote the economy of the Plaintiff and the State, thereby improving the competitive position of both entities; (ii) the Project will further the development of tourism related business

activities and other area industries, thereby providing a more balanced and stable area of economy and increased opportunities for gainful employment; (iii) the Project will provide a forum for educational, recreational and entertainment activities for the citizens of Osceola County and the State; and (iv) the Project will meet an existing need for such facility in Osceola County and the State, thereby promoting the attractiveness of both Osceola County and the State to outside business interests and visitors[.]

Final Judgment at 8 (App. 1).

The State Attorney provides two assertions as to why this conclusion was made in error. First, the State Attorney contends that the Project does not serve an adequate public purpose; and second, that even if an adequate public purpose exists, the circuit court erred in so finding because several important agreements are not yet executed. Neither of these assertions has a basis in this case.¹

B. The County's Project Serves A Paramount Public Purpose.

Several opinions from this Court are closely analogous to the instant one. The scarcity of case citations in the State Attorney's Initial Brief does not reflect the reality that several cases directly support the circuit court's finding of paramount

¹ The first argument is responded to in great detail in this Answer Brief. For the second argument, the State Attorney cites the case of <u>State v. City of Orlando</u>, 576 So. 2d 1315 (Fla. 1991), as support that the circuit court could not decide the validity of the Bonds with not every agreement being in an executed form. This case does not further the State Attorney's argument because it held only that the bond resolution there failed to identify at all what projects were to be funded with the bond proceeds. Clearly, this situation is not present here.

public purpose here. The most instructive case for this bond validation proceeding is the Court's recent opinion in Poe v. Hillsborough County, 695 So. 2d 672 (Fla. 1997). In <u>Poe v.</u> Hillsborough County, this Court determined that the financing of a new stadium and related facilities for the Tampa Bay Buccaneers served a "paramount public purpose," and, thus, did not violate Article VII, section 10 of the Florida Constitution. The Tampa Sports Authority ("TSA"), in Poe v. Hillsborough County, proposed to issue \$33 million in bonds supported by state sales tax proceeds, \$11.5 million in bonds supported by the local option four-cent tourist development tax, and \$160 million in bonds supported by a countywide local option half-cent sales tax. Under various agreements, including the "Stadium Agreement," the "Stadium Parcel Development Agreement," and the "Practice Area Development and Lease Agreement," between the TSA and the Buccaneers, the TSA would construct a new community stadium and training facility.

The "Bucs" could use the stadium for 30 years, paying an annual fee to the TSA. In addition, the "Bucs" were contractually allowed to retain the first \$2 million in proceeds from non-Buc events held at the stadium. In <u>Poe v. Hillsborough</u>, the circuit court declined to validate the bonds, finding that the new stadium project would be valid but for this \$2 million clause. <u>See Poe v.</u> <u>Hillsborough County</u>, 695 So. 2d 672, 675. In light of this clause, the circuit court ruled that the stadium served a "predominately <u>private</u> purpose." <u>Id.</u> (emphasis added).

However, this Court reversed that conclusion and noted, "We have held that a bond issue does not violate article VII, section 10 so long as the project serves a 'paramount public purpose,' and any benefits to private parties from the project are incidental." <u>Id.</u> at 675 (citations omitted). This Court concluded that the private benefit from the project was incidental despite the fact that the Tampa Bay Buccaneers, a private, professional sports franchise, would receive the \$2 million payment at issue.

Furthermore, in finding that a paramount public purpose was served by the stadium project, this Court relied on its previous paramount public purpose cases concerning the financing for the Daytona Speedway. See State v. Daytona Beach Racing & Recreational Facilities District, 89 So. 2d 34 (Fla. 1956), and Daytona Beach Racing and Recreational Facilities District v. Paul, 179 So. 2d 349 (Fla. 1965). In the 1956 Daytona case, this Court determined that the construction of a racetrack, which was used and operated by a private corporation served a paramount public purpose because the project was designed to "both increase trade by attracting tourists and to provide recreation for the citizens of the District." Id. at 37; see also Daytona Beach Racing & Recreational Facilities Dist. v. Paul, 179 So. 2d 349 (Fla. 1965) (reaffirming that the same racing facility served a predominantly public purpose). To emphasize its finding of public purpose, this Court in the 1956 Daytona case stated:

> Tourism, both between the areas of our State and as between the States of this Nation, is a competitive business. The sand and sun and the water are not sufficient to attract those

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